

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
OF
SEABIRD EXPLORATION SEPLC
A EUROPEAN PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

1. INTERPRETATION

~~These regulations shall be read, construed and applied on the basis that the same are designed for a European public limited liability company (Societas Europaea or SE) within the meaning of the Law and the European Regulation.~~

In these Articles, if not inconsistent with the context, the words and expressions standing in the first column of the following table shall bear the meanings set opposite them respectively in the second column thereof.

Formatted: Font: Bold, English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: Header, Right, Right: -1.5 cm

Style Definition: Normal

Style Definition: Footnote Text

Style Definition: Footnote Reference

<u>Expression</u>	<u>Meaning</u>
1.1 "Administrative Organ"	means the Board of Directors and the term "Administrative Organ" and "Board" or "Board of Directors" are used interchangeably and synonymously in these Articles.
1.21.1 "Annual meeting of the Company" or "Annual General Meeting"	Any meeting of the Members which is held each calendar year as the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Law with a gap of not more than 15 months between such meetings.
1.31.2 "Articles"	means the Articles of Association of the Company as herein set out or as may from time to time be altered or amended by Special Resolution of the Company in General Meeting.
1.41.3 "Auditors"	As defined in Regulation 020 of these Articles.
1.51.4 "Board" or "Board of Directors"	The Directors of the Company as a collective organ, as elected by the Members by resolution according to these Articles.
1.61.5 "business partners"	means any person with a contractual relationship with the Company such as but not limited to a supplier, an agent or customer of the Company.
1.71.6 "Chairman of the Board"	has the meaning specified in Regulation 0-15.
1.81.7 "Cyprus"	means the Republic of Cyprus.
1.91.8 " Director"	Any member of the Board of Directors.
1.101.9 "Distribution"	in relation to a distribution by the Company to a Member or Shareholder means the direct or indirect transfer of an asset, other than Shares, to or for the benefit of the Member or Shareholder, or the incurring of a debt to or for the benefit of a Member or Shareholder, and includes a dividend.
1.111.10 "Eligible Person"	means individuals, corporations, trusts, the estates of deceased individuals, partnerships and unincorporated associations of persons.
1.121.11 "Euronext VPS"	means Euronext Securities Oslo.
1.131.12 "Exchange"	Any securities exchange or other system on which the Shares of the Company may be listed or otherwise authorized for trading from time to time, including, without limitation, the Oslo Stock Exchange.
1.14 "European Regulation"	Means collectively, the Council Regulation (EC) 2157/2001 of 8 October 2001 on the Statute for a European company (SE), the Council Directive 2001/86/EC of 8 October 2001 supplementing the Statute for a European Company with regard to the involvement of employees and the European Public Limited Liability Company Regulations of 2006 (K.Δ.Π.290/2006) and European Public Limited Liabilities Companies (Amending) Regulations of 2018 (K.Δ.Π.367/2018).
1.151.13 "Extraordinary Meeting of the Company" or General Meeting" or "Extraordinary General Meeting"	means any Meeting of Members other than an Annual General Meeting
1.161.14 "Meeting of Shareholders"	means any meeting of Shareholders .
1.171.15 "Member" or "Shareholder"	means every person who agrees to become a member of the Company and whose name is entered in the Register.

Formatted Table

Formatted Table

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Footer

4.181.16	"Memorandum"	means the Memorandum of Association of the Company.
4.191.17	"Oslo Stock Exchange" and "OSE"	The Oslo Stock Exchange, Norway.
4.20		
4.241.18	"Resolution of Directors"	means a resolution approved at a duly constituted meeting of Directors or of a committee of Directors of the Company, by affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors present at the meeting who voted and did not abstain except that in case of an equality of votes, the Chairman of the Board, shall have a second or casting vote; or a resolution consented to in writing by all the Directors or all the members of the committee, as the case may be;
4.221.19	"Resolution of Members" or "Ordinary Resolution"	means a resolution approved at a duly constituted meeting of Members by the affirmative vote of a simple majority of such Members as, being entitled so to do, vote in person or by proxy.
4.231.20	"the Seal"	means the common seal of the Company.
4.241.21	"Share"	means an issued and paid up share in the share capital of the Company.
4.251.22	"Shareholder"	means a holder of a Share of the Company.
4.261.23	"Special Resolution"	means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than three fourths of such Members as being entitled so to do vote in person or by proxy at a duly constituted meeting of the Company of which not less than twenty-one days' notice, specifying the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution, has been duly given.
4.271.24	"the Law"	means the Companies Law, Cap. 113, of the statute Laws of the Republic of Cyprus as amended to date or any law substituting the same; and includes any future amending law.
4.281.25	"the Register"	means the register of Members of the Company kept at the Company's registered office and the overseas register within the meaning of the Law, held or kept by Euronext VPS or such other person or body corporate who may from time to time be appointed by the Board in replacement of Euronext VPS.W.

Formatted Table

[4.29](#)

[4.30](#)

2. ~~SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL~~

- 2.1** Subject to any Resolution of the Members, Shares and other securities may be issued at such times, to such Eligible Persons, for such consideration and on such terms as the Directors by Resolution of Directors or the Members by Ordinary Resolution may determine.
- 2.2** A Share may be issued for consideration in any form, including money, a promissory note, or other written obligation to contribute money or property, real property, personal property (including goodwill and know-how), services rendered or a contract for future services.
- 2.3** No Shares may be issued for a consideration other than money, unless a Resolution of Directors has been passed stating:
- (a) the amount to be credited for the issue of the Shares;
 - (b) the determination of the Directors of the reasonable present cash value of the non-money consideration for the issue; and

Formatted: Footer

- (c) that, in the opinion of the Directors, the present cash value of the non-money consideration for the issue is not less than the amount to be credited for the issue of the Shares.

2.4 The Company may not issue fractions of a Share.

2.5 Shares may be issued in one or more series of Shares as the Directors may by Resolution of Directors determine from time to time.

2.6 ~~Subject~~ Subject to any beneficial rights of Shareholders and subject to any special rights conferred on the holders of any existing Shares or class of Shares, each Share in the Company confers upon the Members:

- (a) the right to one vote at a Meeting of Members or on any Resolution of Members;
(b) the right to an equal share in any dividend paid by the Company; and
(c) the right to an equal share in the distribution of the surplus assets of the Company on its liquidation.

2.7 Any Share in the Company may be issued with such preferred, deferred or other special rights or such restrictions, whether in regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise as the Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution determine.

2.8 If at any time Shares are divided into different classes, the rights attached to any class may only be varied, whether or not the Company is in liquidation, with the consent in writing of or by a resolution passed at a meeting by the holders of not less than ~~50 per cent of the issued Shares in that class, provided that at least half of the issued share capital is represented. Where at least half of the issued share capital is not represented, the decision shall be taken by a majority of two-thirds of the votes, corresponding to the represented issued capital/represented securities. For the avoidance of doubt, where the Company has two or more classes of shares, every decision by the General Meeting shall be subject to a separate vote by each class of members whose rights are affected thereby in the manner set out in this regulation.~~⁴ % of the issued Shares in that class.

2.9 The rights conferred upon the holders of the Shares of any class shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue of the Shares of that class, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further Shares ranking *pari passu* therewith.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1.2 cm, Space After: 18 pt

~~2.10 The Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution increase its share capital by such sum, to be divided into shares of such amount, as the resolution shall prescribe.~~

~~2.11 The Company may by ordinary resolution:~~

- (a) ~~consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of a larger amount than its existing shares;~~
(b) ~~subdivide its existing shares, or any of them, into shares of a smaller amount than is fixed by the memorandum of association, subject, to the provisions of section 60(1)(d) of the Law~~
(c) ~~cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person.~~

~~2.12 The Company may by special resolution, reduce its share capital, any capital redemption reserve fund or any share premium account in any manner and with, and subject to, any authorisation and/or consent required by Law and provided that the Company's subscribed share capital does not fall below the minimum amount required by the European Regulation~~

3. TRANSFER AND/OR TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

Formatted: Space After: 12 pt

3.1 Shares in the Company may be transferred freely.

3.2 The transfer of a Share is effective when the name of the transferee is entered on the Register.

3.3 The registration of transfers may be suspended and the Register closed at such times for such periods as the Board may from time to time determine, provided always that such registration shall not be suspended or the Register closed for more than five days in any year.

3.4 Subject to such evidence being produced as may from time to time properly be required by the Directors, the legal personal representative of a deceased Shareholder shall be the only person recognized by the Company as having any title to his interest in the Shares and may transfer a Share even though the personal representative is not a Shareholder at the time of the transfer.

3.5 Any person, who as a result of such person's own acquisition, or the acquisition by persons acting in concert with such person, including, *inter alia*, entities controlled by or controlling such person, as defined in applicable law, holds or is directly or indirectly interested in, whether solely or together with persons acting in concert with such person, such issued

⁴ ~~Article 60 of the European Council Regulation (EC) 2157/2001 of 8 October 2001 on the Statute for a European company (SE) (the EU Regulation).~~

Formatted: Footer

Shares of the Company, as shall provide the said person with 30 per cent or more of the voting rights in the Company, such person shall:

- (i) promptly notify the Oslo stock Exchange and the Company, and
- (ii) Make a mandatory unconditional offer for the purchase of the remaining issued Shares or beneficial interest in such Shares in the Company.

Mandatory provisions on bid obligations, and any exemptions thereto as set out in applicable law, shall supplement this article and shall prevail in case of any conflict.

4. FORFEITURE OF SHARES

- 4.1 Shares that are not fully paid on issue are subject to the forfeiture provisions set forth in this Regulation and for this purpose Shares issued for a promissory note, other written obligation to contribute money or property or a contract for future services are deemed to be not fully paid.
- 4.2 A written notice of call specifying the date for payment to be made shall be served on the Shareholder who defaults in making payment in respect of the Shares.
- 4.3 Where a written notice of call has been issued pursuant to Sub-Regulation 4.24.2 and the requirements of the notice have not been complied with, the Directors may by Resolution of the Board, at any time before tender of payment, forfeit the Shares to which the notice relates.
- 4.4 The Company is under no obligation to refund any moneys to the Shareholder whose Shares have been forfeited pursuant to Sub-Regulation 4.34.3 and that Shareholder shall be discharged from any further obligation to the Company.

5. PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES

- 5.1 Subject to the provisions of the Law, the Company may acquire, Shares if and in so far as the Company in General Meeting by a Special Resolution requiring the approval of three fourths of the votes attached to the share capital represented at the General Meeting has authorised the Board to acquire such shares, provided in all cases, that the Company shall not purchase more than such number of such shares as shall result in the Company at any time holding more than 10 per cent of the Company's issued Shares.

The authorization may be given for no more than twelve months on each occasion, notwithstanding any other provisions.

- 5.2 In the General Meeting no votes may be cast in respect of a Share held by the Company or a subsidiary company. Shares in respect of which voting rights may not be exercised by law or by the articles of association shall not be taken into account when determining to what extent the shareholders cast votes, to what extent they are present or represented or to what extent the share capital is provided or represented.
- 5.3 Upon the proposal of the Board, subject to the provisions of the Law, the General Meeting may decide to cancel Shares acquired by the Company from its own share capital.
- 5.4 Shares owned by the Company may be transferred by the Company on such terms and conditions (not otherwise inconsistent with the Memorandum and the Articles) as the Company may by Resolution of Directors determine.

6. MORTGAGES AND CHARGES OF REGISTERED SHARES

- 6.1 Shareholders may pledge or charge their Shares.

7. GENERAL MEETINGS

- 7.1 The Directors of the Company may convene General Meetings and Meetings of Shareholders of the Company at such times and in such manner and places within or outside Cyprus as the Directors consider necessary or desirable. The Directors shall convene and the Company shall in each calendar year hold at least one General Meeting as its Annual General Meeting in that year ~~no later than six (6) months following the end of its financial year²~~, and shall specify the meeting as ~~an Annual General Meeting~~ such in the notices calling it. The Directors shall not permit more than 15 months to elapse between the date of one Annual General Meeting of the Company and the next. The Annual General Meeting shall be held at such time and place as the Board shall appoint~~...~~.
- 7.2 All General Meetings other than the Annual General Meetings shall be called Extraordinary General Meetings.
- 7.3 Upon the written request of Members holding not less than one ~~twentieth~~¹⁰ of the ~~issued capital~~^{paid up} Shares of the Company as at the date of the deposit carry the right of voting at General Meetings, the Directors shall convene an

²Article 54(1) of the EU Regulation.
³Article 55(1) of the EU Regulation.

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt

Formatted: Body Text, Keep with next

Formatted: Space Before: 0 pt, After: Auto

Formatted: Body Text, Keep with next

Formatted: Space Before: 0 pt

Formatted: Footer

Extraordinary General Meeting. Such requisition shall state the objects ~~and items to be put on the agenda~~⁴ of the meeting and be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company's registered office. The Directors shall in such case give notice of a General Meeting in accordance with these Articles.

7.4 An Annual General Meeting shall be called by twenty-one days' notice at the least. A General Meeting other than an Annual General Meeting or a meeting for the approval of a special resolution shall be called by fourteen days' notice, where a special resolution, that shortens the notice period to fourteen days, has been approved in the immediately preceding Annual General Meeting or at a General Meeting that was conducted after that meeting. The notice shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed to be served, and shall specify the place, the day and the hour of meeting and the agenda for the meeting. ~~One or more Members who together hold at least five (5) per cent of the issued share capital may request that one or more additional items be put on the agenda of any General Meeting.~~⁵

7.5 The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by, any persons entitled to receive notice, shall not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

7.6 ~~Subject to the Law, notwithstanding~~**Notwithstanding** that a meeting of the Company is called by shorter notice than that referred to in the foregoing Regulation ~~7.4, 7.4~~, it shall be deemed to have been duly called if:

7.6 (i) in the case of a meeting called as an Annual General Meeting, all the Members of the Company entitled to attend and vote thereat agree to the shorter notice; and

(ii)(iii) in the case of any other meeting of the Members, the Members holding not less than 95 percent in nominal value of the shares giving a right to attend and vote at the meeting, agree to shorter notice of the meeting.

7.7 Subject to the specific provisions contained in this Regulation for the appointment of representatives of Eligible Persons other than individuals the right of any individual to speak for or represent a Shareholder shall be determined by the law of the jurisdiction where, and by the documents by which, the Eligible Person is constituted or derives its existence. In case of doubt, the Directors may in good faith seek legal advice from any qualified person and unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction shall otherwise rule, the Directors may rely and act upon such advice without incurring any liability to any Shareholder or the Company.

7.8 Any Eligible Person other than an individual which is a Shareholder may by resolution of its Directors or other governing body authorise such individual as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any General Meeting or Meeting of Shareholders or of any class of Shareholders, and the individual so authorised shall be entitled to exercise the same rights on behalf of the Eligible Person which he represents as that Eligible Person could exercise if it were an individual.

7.9 No business shall be transacted at any General Meeting or a Meeting of Shareholders unless a quorum of Members or Shareholders, as the case may be, is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business; save as herein or in the Law otherwise provided, two Members or Shareholders, present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum.

7.10 If within an hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting shall be dissolved.

7.11 The Chairman of the Board shall preside as chairperson of the meeting at every General Meeting or Meeting of Shareholders, or if the Chairman of the Board shall not be present within fifteen minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or is unwilling to act the Directors present shall elect one of their number to be chairperson of the meeting.

7.12 If at any General Meeting or Meeting of Shareholders no Director is willing to act as chairperson of the meeting or if no Director is present within an hour after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the Members or Shareholders (as the case may be) present shall elect one of their number to be chairperson of the meeting.

7.13 At any General Meeting or Meeting of Shareholders any resolution shall be decided by a poll.

7.14 A poll shall be taken in such manner as the chairperson of the meeting directs, or failing him as the Chairman of the Board or any Director directs, and the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting and shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

7.15 Decisions of the General Meeting or the Meeting of Shareholders require a simple majority of the votes unless otherwise is laid down in these Articles or the Law otherwise provides.

⁴Article 55(2) of the EU Regulation.

⁵Article 56 of the EU Regulation.

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Body Text, No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: i, ii, iii, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 1.2 cm + Tab after: 2.52 cm + Indent at: 2.52 cm

Formatted: Footer

7.16 No objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter except at the meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered and every vote not disallowed at such meeting shall be valid for all purposes. Any such objection made in due time shall be referred to the chairperson of the meeting whose decision shall be final and conclusive.

7.17 A vote may be given either personally or by proxy.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1.2 cm, Space After: 24 pt

8. RECORDS

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt

8.1 The Company shall keep the following documents at its registered office:

- (a) the Memorandum and the Articles;
- ~~(b) the register of Members, subject to the holding of an overseas register elsewhere;~~
- ~~(c)(b)~~ the register of Directors and Secretaries; and
- ~~(d)(c)~~ copies of all notices and other documents filed by the Company with the Registrar of Companies.

8.2 The Company shall keep the following records at its registered office:

- (a) minutes of General Meetings and Resolutions of Shareholders and classes of Shareholders;
- (b) minutes of meetings and Resolutions of Directors and committees of Directors; and
- (c) an impression of the Seal.

9. PROXIES AND ADVISORS

9.1 Any Member or Shareholder of the Company entitled to vote at a General Meeting or a Meeting of Shareholders respectively, shall be entitled to appoint another person (who must be an individual) as his proxy to speak at the meeting. Forms of proxy shall be sent by the Company to each Member or Shareholder, as the case may be, together with the notice convening each General Meeting or Meeting of Shareholders. A proxy need not be a Shareholder of the Company.

9.2 Every instrument of proxy, whether for a specified meeting or otherwise, shall be in common form or such other form as the Board may from time to time approve, however, so that the chairperson of the meeting may, at his sole discretion, choose to accept any other instrument of proxy that he deems acceptable.

9.3 Any Member or Shareholder of the Company entitled to meet and vote at a General Meeting or Meeting of Shareholders shall be entitled to bring an advisor to the meeting, and such advisor shall be entitled to speak at the meeting.

10. BOARD OF DIRECTORS / ADMINISTRATIVE ORGAN⁶

10.1 The management of the Company shall be exercised by a Board of Directors ~~(i.e. the Administrative Organ, as referred to in the European Regulation)~~.

10.2 The Board shall consist of not less than two (2) nor more than nine (9) persons as determined by the Company in General Meeting. Directors are ~~appointed~~ ~~delected~~ by the Members of the Company ~~by ordinary resolution~~ ~~as set forth in these Articles~~. No person shall be appointed as a Director of the Company unless he has consented in writing to be a Director. ~~Where a Director is a legal person, such legal person shall designate a natural person to exercise its functions as a Director of the Company.~~⁸

10.3 At least 50 ~~per cent~~⁷ of the Directors shall be individuals who are neither executive officers of, nor employed by, nor employees or Directors of business partners of the Company.

10.4 Each Director shall hold office until the expiration of his term, ~~which shall not exceed six (6) years. On expiry of his/her term, a Director may be reappointed one or more times for an additional term, not to exceed six (6) years on each occasion.~~⁹ ~~and until his successor shall have been elected and qualified.~~

10.5 Subject to the provisions of the Law, the Company may by Ordinary Resolution of which special notice has been given in accordance with section 136 of the Law, at any time remove any Director before the expiration of such Director's term

⁶ Article 43(1) of the EU Regulation.

⁷ Article 43(3) of the EU Regulation.

⁸ Article 47(1) of the EU Regulation.

⁹ Article 46(1) of the EU Regulation.

Formatted: Footer

of office, with or without cause, and may by Ordinary Resolution elect another person in his place or as an additional Director.

10.6 The Company shall keep a register of Directors containing:

- (a) the names and addresses of the persons who are Directors of the Company;
- (b) the date on which each person whose name is entered in the register was appointed as a Director, of the Company;
- (c) the date on which each person named as a Director ceased to be a Director of the Company;
- (d) such other information as may be prescribed by the Law.

10.7 The register of Directors may be kept in any such form as the Directors may approve, but if it is in magnetic, electronic or other data storage form, the Company must be able to produce legible evidence of its contents. Until a Resolution of Directors determining otherwise is passed, the magnetic, electronic or other data storage shall be the original register of directors.

10.8 A Director need not hold any qualification Shares.

10.9 ~~The office of Director shall be vacated if the director:⁴⁹~~

- ~~(a) becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his creditors generally;~~
- ~~(b) becomes prohibited from being a Director by reason of any order made under section 180 of the Law;~~
- ~~(c) becomes of unsound mind;~~
- ~~(d) resigns from office by notice in writing to the Company;~~
- ~~(e) shall for more than six (6) months have been absent without the permission of the directors from meetings of the directors held during that period;~~
- ~~(f) is accused of committing a criminal offence that involves the element of dishonesty or fraud or that constitutes a felony;~~
- ~~(g) has come to the end of his term of office, which shall not exceed six (6) consecutive years (noting however that such Director may be re-appointed for additional terms); or~~
- ~~(h) is removed in accordance with regulation 11.5.~~

11. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

11.1 The Directors shall be entitled to receive by way of remuneration for their services such sum as shall from time to time be determined by the Company in General Meeting. Such remuneration shall be in addition to any other remuneration to which a Director who holds any salaried employment or office in the Company may be entitled by reason of such employment or office.

11.2 The Board may grant special remuneration to any Director, who shall perform any special or extra services at the request of the Company. Such special remuneration may be made payable to such Director in addition to or in substitution for his ordinary remuneration as a Director, and may be made payable by way of salary, commission or participation in profits or otherwise as may be agreed. Any and all such remuneration of Directors shall be specified in the annual accounts of the Company.

11.3 The Directors shall be entitled to be paid all expenses, including travel expenses, reasonably incurred by them in or in connection with the performance of their duties as Directors including their expenses of travelling to and from Board meetings, committee meetings or General Meetings or Meetings of Shareholders or otherwise incurred whilst engaged on the business of the Company or in the discharge of their duties as Directors.

12. DIRECTORS' INTERESTS

12.1 A Director of the Company shall, forthwith after becoming aware of the fact that whether directly or indirectly, he is interested in a transaction entered into or to be entered into by the Company, disclose the nature of his interest to all other Directors of the Company, in the manner prescribed by section 191 of the Law.

12.2 A Director is deemed interested in a transaction if any person connected to a Director is interested in the transaction.

12.3 For the purposes of Sub-Regulation ~~12-4-12-1~~, a disclosure to all other Directors to the effect that a Director is a Member of another named entity and is to be regarded as interested in any transaction which may, after disclosure of the interest, be entered into with that entity or individual, is a sufficient disclosure of interest in relation to that transaction.

12.4 Except as otherwise provided by the Law, a Director of the Company who is interested in a transaction entered into or to be entered into by the Company:

- (i) may hold any other office or place of profit with the Company (except that of Auditor) in conjunction with the office of Director, and may act by himself or through his firm in a professional capacity for the Company (otherwise than as Auditor) and in either such case on such terms as to remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) and otherwise as the Board may determine; any such

⁴⁹ Article 47(2) of the EU Regulation.

remuneration shall be either in addition to or in lieu of any remuneration provided for, by or pursuant to any other Regulation;

- (ii) may be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any contract with the Company or in which the Company is otherwise interested;
- (iii) may be a director or other officer of, or employed by, or a party to any contract with, or otherwise interested in, any body corporate promoted by the Company or in which the Company is otherwise interested; and
- (iv) shall not, by reason of his office, be accountable to the Company for any remuneration or benefit which he derives from any such office or employment or from any such contract or from any interest in such body corporate and no such contract shall be liable to be avoided on the ground of any such interest or benefit.

12.5 A Director who is interested in a transaction entered or to be entered into by the Company shall not

- (i) vote on the Board or on a committee of the Board on a matter relating to the transaction,
- (ii) be counted in the quorum in relation to, any resolution of the board or of a committee of the Board concerning any matter in which he has an interest (other than his interest in Shares or debentures or other securities of, or otherwise in or through, the Company).

13. OFFICERS AND AGENTS

13.1 The Company may by Resolution of Directors appoint officers of the Company ~~(other than to the position of Director)~~ at such times as may be considered necessary or expedient. Any number of offices may be held by the same person. ~~For the avoidance of doubt, no person may be appointed as a Director of the Company without the approval of the General Meeting.~~⁴¹

13.2 The officers shall perform such duties as are prescribed by Law and at the time of their appointment subject to any modification in such duties (where this is permitted by the Law) as may be prescribed thereafter by Resolution of Directors.

13.3 ~~Subject to regulation 13.1, the~~The officers of the Company shall hold office until their successors are duly appointed, but any officer elected or appointed by the Directors may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by Resolution of Directors. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Company ~~(other than to the position of Director)~~ may be filled by Resolution of Directors.

13.4 The Directors may from time to time and at any time by power of attorney appoint any company, firm or person or body⁴² of persons, whether nominated directly or indirectly by the Directors, to be the attorney or attorneys of the Company for such purpose and with such powers, authorities and discretions (not exceeding those vested in or exercisable by the Directors under these regulations) and for such period and subject to such conditions under these regulations) and for such period and subject to such conditions as they may think fit, and any such powers of attorney may contain such provisions for the protection and convenience of persons dealing with any such attorney as the Directors may think fit and may also authorise any such attorney to delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions vested in him.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1.2 cm, Space After: 6 pt

14. MANAGEMENT

14.1 ~~The Company shall operate under a one-tier system (the Administrative Organ) as prescribed by the European Regulation.~~⁴² ~~Subject to the provisions of the European Regulation, the Law and these Articles, the~~The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by, or be under the direction or supervision of, the ~~Administrative Organ, i.e. the Board of Directors of the Company~~⁴³. The Directors of the Company have all the powers necessary for managing, and for directing and supervising, the business and affairs of the Company. The Directors may pay all expenses incurred preliminary to and in connection with the incorporation of the Company and may exercise all such powers of the Company as are not by the Law or by the Articles required to be exercised by the Company in General Meeting.

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt

14.2 Each Director shall exercise his powers for a proper purpose and shall not act or agree to the Company acting in a manner that contravenes the Memorandum, the Articles, ~~the European Regulation~~ or the Law. Each Director, in

⁴¹ Article 43(3) of the EU Regulation.

⁴² Article 38 of the EU Regulation.

⁴³ Article 43(1) of the EU Regulation.

Formatted: Footer

exercising his powers or performing his duties, shall act honestly and in good faith in what the Director believes to be the best interests of the Company.

14.3 The Directors may by Resolution of Directors exercise all the powers of the Company to incur indebtedness, liabilities or obligations and to secure indebtedness, liabilities or obligations whether of the Company or of any third party.

15. PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS

15.1 ~~The Directors of the Company shall meet (either physically or via teleconference or other electronic means) at least once every three months to discuss the progress and foreseeable development of the Company.¹⁴ Subject to the foregoing, the~~The Directors of the Company or any committee thereof may meet at such times and in such manner and places within or outside Cyprus as the Directors may determine to be necessary or desirable. A Director is deemed to be present at a meeting of Directors if he participates by telephone or other electronic means.

15.2 Any one Director of the Company may call a meeting of the Directors by sending a written notice to each other Director. A minimum three days' notice thereof shall be given to each Director either in writing or by electronic transmission at the address or telephone, facsimile or telex number from time to time notified to the Company by such Director or in such other manner as the Board may from time to time determine, unless all Directors in advance of the meeting accept a shorter notice or a meeting of Directors held without 3 days' notice having been given to all Directors shall be valid if all the Directors entitled to vote at the meeting who do not attend waive notice of the meeting, and for this purpose the presence of a Director at a meeting shall constitute waiver by that Director. The inadvertent failure to give notice of a meeting to a Director, or the fact that a Director has not received the notice, does not invalidate the meeting. ~~Each Director is entitled to examine all information submitted to it.¹⁵~~

15.3 Subject to any Resolution of Members to the contrary, the Board of Directors may appoint one Director as the Chairman of the Board, and may at any time elect another person as Chairman of the Board. The Chairman of the Board shall act as chairperson of the meetings of the Board. If the Chairman is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for holding the same, the Directors present may choose one of their number to be chairperson of the meeting. ~~In the case of equality of votes, as regards a meeting of the Board, the Chairman shall have a second/casting vote.¹⁶~~

15.4 A meeting of Directors is duly constituted for all purposes if at the commencement of the meeting there are present in person ~~or by alternate~~, not less than one-half of the total number of Directors¹⁷, unless there are only 2 Directors in which case the quorum is 2.

15.5 An action that may be taken by the Directors or a committee of Directors at a meeting may also be taken by a Resolution of Directors or a resolution of a committee of Directors consented to in writing by all Directors or by all members of the committee, as the case may be, without the need for any notice. The consent may be in the form of counterparts each counterpart being signed by one or more Directors. If the consent is in one or more counterparts, and the counterparts bear different dates, then the resolution shall take effect on the date upon which the last Director has consented to the resolution by signed counterparts.

15.6 The Directors may, by Resolution of Directors, designate one or more committees, each consisting of one or more Directors, and delegate one or more of their powers, including the power to authorise the affixing of the Seal, to the committee.

15.7 The Directors have no power to delegate to a committee of Directors any of the following powers:

- (a) to designate committees of Directors;
- (b) to delegate powers to a committee of Directors;
- (c) to approve a plan of merger, consolidation or arrangement;
- (d) to make a declaration of solvency or to approve a liquidation plan; or
- (e) to make a determination that immediately after a proposed Distribution the value of the Company's assets will exceed its liabilities and the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due.

15.8 The meetings and proceedings of each committee of Directors consisting of 2 or more Directors shall be governed mutatis mutandis by the provisions of the Articles regulating the proceedings of Directors so far as the same are not superseded by any provisions in the Resolution of Directors establishing the committee.

15.9 Where the Directors delegate their powers to a committee of Directors they remain responsible for the exercise of that power by the committee, unless they believed on reasonable grounds at all times before the exercise of the power that

¹⁴ Article 44(1) of the EU Regulation.

¹⁵ Article 44(2) of the EU Regulation.

¹⁶ Article 50(2) of the EU Regulation and definition of "Resolution of Directors".

¹⁷ Article 50(1)(a) of the EU Regulation

the committee would exercise the power in conformity with the duties imposed on Directors of the Company under the Law.

15.10 The Board shall cause minutes to be made of:

- (i) all appointments of officers made by the Board;
- (ii) the names of the Directors present at each meeting of the Board and any committees of the Board;
- (iii) all declarations made or notices given by any Director of his interest in any contract or proposed contract or of his holding of any office or property whereby any conflict of duty or interest may arise; and
- (iv) all resolutions and proceedings at all General Meetings or Meetings of Shareholders and meetings of the Board.

15.11 Any such minutes shall be signed by the Directors having participated save that minutes of a meeting of the Board or of a committee of the Board may be signed by the Chairman of the Board, or the chairperson of the committee as the case may be, and such signed minutes shall be considered conclusive evidence of any such proceeding.

15.12 The continuing Directors may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body, but, if and so long as their number is reduced below the number fixed by or pursuant to these Articles as the necessary number of Directors, the continuing Director or Directors may act for the purpose of increasing the number of Directors to that number by way of summoning a General Meeting of the Company but for no other purpose.

16. SECRETARY

A Secretary shall be appointed by the Board for such term, at such remuneration and upon such conditions as it may think fit, and any Secretary so appointed may be removed by the Board.

17. USE OF SEAL

The Company shall have a Seal. The Company may have more than one Seal for use in any territory outside Cyprus and references herein to the Seal shall be references to every Seal which shall have been duly adopted by Resolution of Directors. The Directors shall provide for the safe custody of the Seal and for an imprint thereof to be kept at the registered office. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein the Seal when affixed to any written instrument shall be witnessed and attested to by the signature of any one Director or other person so authorised from time to time by Resolution of Directors. Such authorisation may be before or after the Seal is affixed, may be general or specific and may refer to any number of sealings. The Directors may provide for a facsimile of the Seal and of the signature of any Director or authorised person which may be reproduced by printing or other means on any instrument and it shall have the same force and validity as if the Seal had been affixed to such instrument and the same had been attested to as hereinbefore described.

18. DIVIDENDS

18.1 ~~Subject to the limitations in the Law, the~~The Members of the Company may, by Ordinary Resolution, following a proposal made by the Directors by Resolution of Directors, authorise a Distribution by way of dividend at a time and of an amount they think fit only if the Directors by Resolution of Directors are satisfied, on reasonable grounds, that, immediately after the Distribution, the value of the Company's assets will exceed its liabilities and the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due.

18.2 Dividends may be paid in money, shares, or other property.

18.3 All dividends unclaimed for 3 years after having been declared may be forfeited by Resolution of Directors for the benefit of the Company.

18.4 No dividend shall bear interest against the Company and no dividend shall be paid on Shares owned by the Company.

19. ACCOUNTS

19.1 The Company shall keep proper books of account in accordance with the Law, that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions and that will give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs.

19.2 The Board shall from time to time determine whether, to what extent, at what times and places and under what conditions or regulations, the accounts and books of the Company, or any of them, shall be open to the inspection of the Members (other than officers of the Company) and no Member shall have any right of inspecting any accounts or books or

Formatted: Footer

documents of the Company except as conferred by statute or as authorized by the Board or by the Company in General Meeting.

19.3 The Board shall cause to be prepared and to be laid before the Members of the Company at every Annual General Meeting a profit and loss account for the preceding financial year together with a balance sheet as of the last day of the preceding financial year (the "Accounts") and a Directors' report for the period covered by the profit and loss account and the state of the Company's affairs as at the end of such period, and Auditors' report on such accounts all prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Law and such other reports and accounts as may be required by law, these Articles or the regulations of any Exchange.

20. AUDIT

20.1 The Company shall have internationally recognised Auditors elected by the Company in General Meeting (hereinafter; the "Auditors").

20.2 The Auditors shall be independent of the Company, and no Director or other officer shall be eligible to be an Auditor of the Company during his continuance in office.

20.3 The Auditors shall be appointed by the General Meeting and their duties regulated in accordance with sections 153 to 156 (both inclusive) of the Law.

20.4 The Auditor shall audit the profit and loss account and balance sheet of the Company in each year and shall prepare a report thereon to be annexed thereto. Such report shall be laid before the Company at its Annual General Meeting in each financial year and shall be open to inspections by any Member or Shareholder.

20.5 The Company shall at any Annual General Meeting appoint an Auditor or Auditors of the Company who shall hold office until the next Annual General Meeting. Subject to the provisions of the Law, the remuneration of the Auditors for the audit function shall be fixed by the Company at the Annual General Meeting provided that in respect of any particular year the Company in General Meeting may delegate the fixing of such remuneration to the Board. No person may be appointed as the, or an, Auditor, unless he is independent of the Company.

20.6 Whenever any error in the statement of accounts audited by the Auditors and presented by the Board at an Annual General Meeting is discovered, it shall forthwith be corrected, and the statement of account amended in respect of the error shall be conclusive.

20.7 Every Auditor of the Company shall have a right of access at all times to the books of account and vouchers of the Company, and shall be entitled to require from the Directors and officers of the Company such information and explanations as he thinks necessary for the performance of the duties of the Auditors.

20.8 The Auditors of the Company shall be entitled to receive notice of, and to attend any General Meetings of the Company.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, Hanging: 1.2 cm, Space Before: 0 pt

21. NOTICES

21.1 Subject to applicable law, any notice, information or written statement to be given by the Company to Members or Shareholders may be given by such service as is determined by the Directors. Where a notice is sent by regular post or electronic mail, service shall be deemed to be effected at the time of dispatch.

Notice of every General Meeting shall be given in the manner set forth in these Articles to every Member and Shareholder of the Company. Subject to the rules of applicable law, where the Company is required through these Articles or by applicable law, or otherwise elects, to attach supporting documentation to the notice of a General Meeting, including the Accounts, the Company may elect to make such documentation available only on its website, provided that the notice, in such cases, specifies that such documentation is made accessible on the Company's website.

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt

22. VOLUNTARY WINDING UP AND DISSOLUTION

Subject to the provisions of the Law, the Company may by Special Resolution appoint a voluntary liquidator.

23. INDEMNITY

Every Director, the auditor, Secretary, or other officer for the time being of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of his duties including liability incurred by him in defending any proceedings whether civil or criminal in which judgment is given in his favour or in which he is acquitted or in connection with any application under section 383 of the Law in which relief is granted to him by the Court and no Director or other such officer of the Company shall be liable for any loss, damage or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of his office or in

Formatted: Footer

relation thereto. But this clause shall only have effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by section 197 of the Law.

24. FINANCIAL YEAR

The financial year of the Company shall end on 31st December in each year or as otherwise prescribed by the Board from time to time.

25. AMENDMENT OF MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES

Subject to the provisions of the Law and these Articles, the Company may in General Meeting at any time and from time to time by Special Resolution alter or amend its Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association in whole or in part.

Formatted: Body Text, Indent: Left: 0 cm, Keep with next

Formatted: Body Text, Keep with next

26. RECORD DATE

26.1 The Directors may fix the date that notice is given of the meeting or such other date as may be specified in the notice as the record date for determining of the Shareholders entitled to vote at a Meeting of Shareholders.

26.2 If no record date is fixed for the Meeting of Shareholders, the date on which notice of the meeting is uploaded on the Company's website shall be the record date for the Meeting of Shareholders.

27. CONTINUATION

The Company may by Special Resolution resolve to continue as a company incorporated under the laws of a country or jurisdiction outside Cyprus in the manner provided under [the European Regulation⁴⁸](#) those laws.

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Formatted: Body Text, Justified, Keep with next

⁴⁸ Article 8 of the EU Regulation.

Formatted: Footer